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The dating of the first manor house (until recently known as Philips Castle) at

Philipsburg (North Tarrytown, N.Y.) is uncertain, since there is no actual record of
when it was built. 1In all probability, it was constructed between 1680 and 1697, and
may have been a small house of a basement and two storeys, with two rooms to a floor.

By 1749, it had been doubled in size, as an inventory of that date reveals. After

the Revolution, when the Philips family were regarded as traitors, the farm was
acquiged at public auction by the Beekman family who greatly changed the stone build-
ing and added a frame wing which has been removed only now in the 20th century. The
house then has had three distinct forms: before 1700, a small house of no more than
two storeys with a basement and two rooms to each floor, by 1749 a house about double
that earlier one, and finally, after the War the larger house with a frame wing to

one side.

Toward the end of the 18th-century, the mill was no longer used, and the mill pond,
and tidal pond below the dam, became more ornamental than useful. In 1951, the
house and land became the property of Sleepy Hollow Restorations, Inc., a
corporation funded by John D. Rockefeller which has since researched and rebuilt the
manor in the same spirit as its sister organization, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.,
has done in Virginia. '

The east half of the present stone house is the earliest part of the structure. The
original remaining floor framing shows that the interior was divided into two rooms
on each floor by a large central chimney. There was a fireplace in each room, and
the roof was probably a simple double-pitched one with equal sides.

When the house was expanded, some time before 1749, the addition was practically a
repeat of the original plan, with a center chimney dividing each floor, except the
basement, into two rooms. The remaining roof timbers indicate that the original
pitched roof was made into a gambrel at this time. There was no positive evidence
of where the stairs were in any of the remaining framing when restoration work was
begun in 1941.

Under the ownership of the Beekman family, after the Revolution, the house was
radically changed. Since the ascendancy of the Philips family reached an acme before
that time then, and since the changes to the building were so drastic by 1942 that

it could not be recognized as a colonial building, it was judged that the building
would have to be restored)and that the period aimed for by the restorers would be
1730-1740.

It is reasoned that it would have been most logical to retain the room which
functioned as a kitchen before the 18th century expansion, after that action, since
it would have already had a massive fireplace and an outside entrance. The upper
kitchen then in the earlier and the added building were most likely the same, and so
too would be the "fore room'" where the family ate and lived, and into which the
front door opened.
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Philipsburg Manor once covered an area of some 90,00 acres and represented an' important
holding of a Dutch-English family before the War of Rebellion. After the war, it became
much like any other farm along the Hudson, with no greater importance than the others
had. Today, as it has been carefully studied and restored, the manor of the Philips
family is an excellent illustration of a working Dutch-English manor at the height of
its importance, 1730-1740. A cluster of buildings around the stone manor house; barn,
grist mill, and outbuildings, represents the focal point of vast holdings of manorial
lands, with its tenant farmers, slaves, fields of grain, orchards, stands of timber,
and stone quarries. It was also the focal point of the sizeable trading and smuggling
activities of a prominent colonial family for over two generations. As more and more
land came under cultivation, the mill and manor house became more and more important,
not only for the exporting of grain or for the production and export of meal, but also
for the baking of ship's bread for both New York and overseas, and as a staging point
for the export or domestic shipping of local produce and the importation of foreign
goods.
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The parlor was a room kept for special purposes, and hardly used from one day to the
next, and even in a small house like this, it would not be considered necessary in
everyday living. Logically, it would be next to the fore room where it could be
entered without going through the kitchen.

The last of the four rooms was that of the overseer (here, Mr. Aartse) who needed a
room from which he could keep close watch on the mill and the wharf, and would have
access to the outside. Only the Southwest room of this house filled those demands,
and so, must have been his.

The rooms in the basement were (1) a cellar, beneath the fore room, and (2) the
""kitchen below'" beneath the upper kitchen. The position of a stair to the upper
storey posed one of the greatest problems for the restorers. With at least three
possibilities still facing them when they referred to similar Dutch houses, it was
deduced that a position as likely as any for the primitve stair (probably quite
like a ladder) was from the cellar, up through the fore room.

The reconstruction of the chimneys at the Manor House is deliberately inaccurate,

for safety purposes. Rather than following the Dutch system of a large central

flue from the largest fireplace, with the other fireplace flues feeding into it, each
fireplace has its separate flue.

The exterior doors and the shutters are made of plank and battens, following the
pattern of the older houses in the area. Casement sash with wood muntins are rebuilt
into the walls, a form of transitional sash which may very well have been used here
about 1730, between the era of the casement and the later one of the double-hung
window.

Under the eaves, the ends of the original tie rods protruded through the stone walls
and were slotted to receive long iron anchor pins which lay flush with the stone
vertically, thus securely anchoring the beams and also preventing the roof pressure
from spreading the walls.

In sum, one must say of the Manor House at Philipsburg that the restoration was so
extensive that it should be classified as a reconstruction. All that remains of the
original 1740 building are the roof (which had been largely rebuilt previously),

three exterior walls (the fourth was wrecked when Beekman's addition was put on and
then taken off), and the interior masonry partition. Many assumptions and conjectures
have had to be made based upon research of local contemporary buildings and existing
documents. Finally, we must agree with the restorers, who feel that they have
succeeded in producing an accurate illustration of an important Dutch-American house
of 1730-1740. What we do not have, unfortunately, is the significant architectural
artifact.

(continued)
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The first mill at Philipsburg Manor disappeared some time after the Civil War, but
since Sleepy Hollow Restorations Inc., decided to restore the Manor House here to

a period 1730-1740, it was decided to build a mill illustrating the type used before
that war. So too was it decided to rebuild an 18th-century type granary and dam.
Finally, a Dutch Barn was bought and transported piece by piece to North Tarrytown
from its site at Hurley, New York.

The property is very well maintained and the corporation carried on a regular
program for visitors of interpretation through films at a visitors' center building,
and through personally guided tours given by assistants at each of the buildings.
The Philipsburg Manor is regularly open to the public for a fee. Only the

manor house and grounds contribute to the national significance of the landmark.
Later buildings added to the grounds are not nationally significant.
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The North, South, and East boundary lines of the Landmark are co-extensive with
the property lines of the corporation, being formed by Bellwood Avenue on the
North, the Albany Post Road on the East, and Pocantico and Continental Streets
and a surveyed property line as the South boundary. The Western boundary is
formed by a 16" sanitary sewer which conveniently limits the extent of the site

only to the most pertinent buildings. The acreage encompassed by this boundary
is approximately twenty.



